UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-4-2007

Burns Holdings v. Madison County Bd. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 33753

I. INTRODUCTION

The straightforward question facing this Court is whether the Madison County Board of County Commissioners (the "County" or "Commission") issued a clearly erroneous and fundamentally unfair results-oriented land use decision against Burns Holdings, LLC ("Burns"). The Commission made its contested decision even though the Madison County Planning and Zoning Commission favorably recommended the proposed change with a 6-1 vote.

Even more remarkable, the Commission denied Burns' proposed change at the same time it unanimously approved a similar proposed land use change for Walters Ready Mix, Inc. ("Walters"), the only company with a concrete facility already in Madison County. Burns is the only direct competition to Walters in the Upper Snake River Valley. During the hearing process before the Commission, it became very clear to Burns that a majority of the Commission was biased against Burns in an effort to protect Walters. Accordingly, counsel for Burns specifically requested that the entire Walters record be made part of the Burns record in the event the Commission's decision relative to Burns was appealed. The records of the two concurrent applications establishes the Commission's decision against Burns to have apparently been predetermined in order to protect Walters, an established Madison County business, and not based upon the merits of the application. This type of decision-making violates Idaho law and notions of fundamental fairness.

In appealing to this Court, Burns recognizes that"a strong presumption of validity favors an agency's actions,"¹ including "the zoning body's application and interpretation of its own zoning

¹ Young Electric Sign Co. v. State, 135 Idaho 804, 25 P.3d 117 (2001); See also Cooper v. Bd. of Prof'l Discipline, 134 Idaho 449, 454, 4 P.3d 561, 566 (2000).

ordinances."² Nevertheless, this presumption can be overcome, and this case presents a unique instance where the record demonstrates the Commission's results-oriented motives. Despite the identical nature of the Burns and Walters applications, which were submitted and decided at the same time, the Commission issued opposite decisions, with the Walters application being approved with a unanimous 3-0 vote and the Burns application being denied by a 2-1 vote.

Given the timing and similarity of these two applications, there is no legitimate distinction between the Burns and Walters applications to justify such disparate treatment. With both records before this Court for review, it can be shown that the Burns decision was results-oriented and violative of Idaho law.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case arises under the Local Land Use Planning Act (the "LLUPA") and the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act as a judicial review of the action of Madison County in denying the issuance of a comprehensive plan amendment and concurrent zone change requested by Burns. This denial was made despite (i) proposals made by Burns to answer safety concerns from a previous appearance before the Commission, (ii) Burns' amendments to its applications to provide for only 12 acres of light industrial zoned land embedded within 37 acres of commercial zoned land as previously recommended by the Madison County Planning and Zoning Commission [hereinafter "Planning and Zoning"], (iii) a favorable detailed study from a nationally known safety expert, (iv) approval from the Idaho Transportation Department, (v) the project's location near the North

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF - Page 2

² Crown Point Development, Inc. v. City of Sun Valley, 144 Idaho 72, __, 156 P.3d 573, 576 (2007).

Rexburg Interchange of Highway 20, (vi) Burns' purchase of additional property in order to improve the access to the Burns parcel, (vii) the absence of any structures bordering the property, (viii) the fact that the property is bordered by waste ground, sub-ground, pasture, a gravel pit, two small farmed pieces, Highway 20, and the Salem Highway, and (ix) a 6-1 favorable recommendation from Planning and Zoning recommending amendment to the comprehensive plan and further recommending a related concurrent zone change.

Burns seeks an order providing that the County's decision was arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion, and not based on substantial evidence, thereby reversing the Commission's decision in this matter.

B. Course of the Proceedings Below.

(1) Round One.

The Burns property is a 49-acre parcel located at the northwestern section of the North Rexburg Interchange on Highway 20 (hereinafter, "North Interchange") in Madison County, Idaho.³ Directly southwest of the Burns parcel is a gravel pit known as the Cornelisen gravel pit,⁴ which the County considers to be an industrial use.⁵ In 1979, 46.8 of the 49 acres were purchased by Robert

³ See, e.g., R. Exhibits 8-9, R. Exhibit 12, Tab 1, Photo 2. Copies of all three photographs are attached to this brief for ease of reference as Appendices A, B, and C, respectively.

⁴ R. Vol. 4 Burns 7 at 4; See also Appendices A through C attached hereto.

⁵ R. Exhibit, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Decision of the Board of County Commissioners of Madison County, Idaho, RE: Comprehensive Plan Zone Change to Add a Commercial and a Light Industrial Zone Near State Highway 191, at 13-14 (This letter is part of the material that is the subject of the Motion to Augment the Record filed on November 29, 2007. It is found in the folder entitled "Augmented Record Volume 2" at Tab 4). In this decision involving Walters, the County concluded that a gravel pit neighboring the Walters site was an industrial use.

and Gayle Taylor from Bruce Shirley.⁶ The remaining approximate two-acre portion of the 49-acre piece was retained by Mr. Shirley.

In 2003, Mrs. Taylor, now widowed, submitted applications to amend the comprehensive plan and to request a zone change from Transitional Agriculture-2 (trans-ag 2) to industrial for her 46.8-acre parcel. Mrs. Taylor made the request while she still owned the property in order to sell the parcel to Burns for its use in order to construct an enclosed concrete batch plant. It was necessary to make such a request because there was no other industrially-zoned land in Madison County.⁷ Planning and Zoning Commission favorably recommended the requested change to the comprehensive plan and the zone change requested by Mrs. Taylor with a 4-3 vote.⁸ Planning and Zoning relied upon the testimony of traffic experts to conclude that the access to the Burns parcel and the North Interchange itself were safe.⁹

Despite the favorable recommendations, on February 17, 2004, the Commission issued its oral decision denying Ms. Taylor's requested changes. The written decision on this matter was not issued until October 20, 2004, over eight months after the oral decision was rendered.¹⁰

⁶ R. Vol. 4 Burns 4 at 1.

⁷ R. Vol. 4 Burns 8 at p. 11, LL. 10 through p. 13, LL. 2; See also R. Exhibit, *Public Hearing, RE: Burns Holdings, LLC, Request for Zone Change*, at p. 35 LL. 3-4 (Commissioner Passey testimony that Madison County "[does not] have enough industrial zoning available,").

⁸ R. Vol. 4 Burns 4 at 7, 9.

⁹ R. Vol. 4 Burns 6.

¹⁰ R. Vol. 4 Burns 7 at 29.

(2) Round Two.

(a) Commission Decision.

Between the time the Commission issued its oral decision on Mrs. Taylor's application and subsequent written decision, Burns acquired Mrs. Taylor's property and the neighboring two-acre parcel formerly owned by Bruce Shirley.¹¹ Acting in accordance with County suggestions given after the Taylor application was denied, Burns requested a zone change for the property from Transitional-Ag 2 to a combined industrial/commercial parcel of 12 acres of light industrial zoned land to construct a concrete batch plant, which was buffered by 37 acres of commercial property. Burns filed its application for zone change on November 22, 2004.¹² The County treated the zone change application as both an application for a zone change and as an application for amendment to the comprehensive plan.

After Burns submitted its requested zone change to include a commercial buffer, Walters amended its pending application before the County to include a commercial buffer of its own.¹³ The only material difference between the two applications was that the commercial buffer would surround a gravel pit on Walter's property, instead of a concrete batch plant as proposed by Burns. Both the Burns application and the Walters application were reviewed and decided at the same time by the County.

¹¹ R. Exhibit 11 at Tab 3. Burns acquired the property from a land developer who had previously purchased the twoacre parcel from Mr. Bruce Shirley.

¹² R. Burns 12.

¹³ R. Vol. 4 Walters 5.

After reviewing the Burns application, it was recommended for approval by Planning and Zoning with a 6-1 vote.¹⁴ The only vote for nonapproval was made by Millie Andrus, the wife and mother of two members of the law firm representing Walters.¹⁵

A public hearing before the Commission on both the Burns and Walters applications was held on February 28, 2005, with Walters' hearing occurring first and Burns' following immediately thereafter. The Walters application was approved with a 3-0 vote of the Commission.¹⁶ The Burns application was denied by a 2-1 vote.¹⁷

(b) First Petition for Judicial Review.

After the Commission's decision, Burns filed its first petition for judicial review, which alleged unlawful reasoning and decision-making on issues of traffic and safety. Burns also challenged the participation of Commissioner Brooke Passey, who had economic ties to Walters.¹⁸

On the day of the hearing for the first petition for judicial review, before the scheduled hearing was to take place, District Judge Brent Moss requested that both parties and their counsel meet with him in chambers where he expressed his decision to remand the matter back to the Commission because of his concerns for the two major issues raised by Burns.

¹⁴ R. Vol. 4 Burns 17; R. Vol. 4 Burns 22.

¹⁵ The law firm representing Walters was Rigby, Thatcher, Andrus, Rigby, and Moeller, Chtd. Ms. Andrus's husband, Rich, and her son, Reed, are both members of the firm. The question of whether Ms. Andrus had a conflict as to the Walters decision was addressed in a letter from then-County attorney Penny Stanford. See R. Vol. 4 Walters 7. Ms. Andrus was excused from voting in the planning and zoning meeting because of this conflict (see R. Vol. 4 Burns 21 at 8), but she did not exclude herself from voting in the Burns matter. See R. Vol. 4 Burns 21 at 7.

¹⁶ R. Vol. 4 Walters 12.

¹⁷ R. Vol. 4 Burns 28 at 4.

¹⁸ See R. Exhibit Letter from Penny Stanford to Roger Muir, RE: Conflict of Interest, March 23, 2005 (This letter is part of the material that is the subject of the Motion to Augment the Record filed on November 29, 2007. It is found in the folder entitled "Augmented Record Volume 2" at Tab 3).

As to Judge Moss's concern with traffic and safety, the Judge seemed to be most concerned with a substantial error made by the Commission in its analysis of traffic and safety, and the County's reliance on a traffic count—not a traffic study—performed by the County's employee, Dusty Cureton. The main basis for the denial of the Burns application was traffic and safety, and the errors in the Commission's traffic analysis concerned the court most.

The substantial error on traffic and safety related to the misreading and misunderstanding of part of an expert report from Mr. James Pline, an expert hired by Burns to analyze traffic and safety issues at the North Interchange.¹⁹ Because of this error, the Commission went on to erroneously discredit Mr. Pline's analysis and the numbers he used in his analysis, which he had obtained from the Idaho Transportation Department ("ITD").

After discrediting Mr. Pline's report, the County had relied upon their own traffic count performed by Dusty Cureton, which actually produced numbers similar-but even less than-the numbers produced by Mr. Pline, as shown by the following chart:²⁰

¹⁹ This error can best be explained by examining Figure 1 of Mr. Pline's Traffic Analysis found at R. Exhibit 12, Tab 3 p. 6. This Figure contains traffic volume numbers obtained from the ITD for 2002 and projected traffic volumes for 2025. The Commission apparently viewed the information contained in the lower right hand corner as being an average of the ITD traffic volume numbers for each road stretch around the Highway 20 Interchange. However, the information in the lower right hand corner of Figure 1 is illustrative only, wherein Mr. Pline attempted to demonstrate that the 2002 figures from the ITD were written on Figure 1 without parentheses and that the projected traffic volume for 2025 was written within parentheses. The actual traffic volume numbers for each stretch of road are written up next to the individual stretches. For example, for the road stretch north of the North Interchange on/off ramps, the traffic volume for 2002 was 4,190 (the number not in parentheses) and the projected number for 2025 is 13,000 (number is in parentheses).

²⁰ R. Exhibit Public Hearing Transcript, RE: Burns Holdings, LLC Request for Comprehensive Plan Change, February 28, 2005, at p. 88 LL. 20 through p. 90 LL. 17. (This transcript is part of the material that is the subject of the Motion to Augment the Record filed on November 29, 2007).

Road section	Mr. Pline's Figures (taken from 2002 AADT)	Mr. Cureton's Figures (results of 2005 traffic count)
North of the North Interchange (both directions)	4,190	3,919
South of the North Interchange (both directions)	8,910	8,300
Between the north and south on/off ramps at the North Interchange (both directions)	6,560	None

The Commission thereafter used Mr. Cureton's numbers incorrectly in performing traffic volume projections, all of which were contrary to ITD projected numbers, and determined that Mr. Cureton's current traffic numbers were "23% higher than the figure forecasted for the year 2025,"²¹ which led to the following clearly erroneous conclusion:

Where the Salem Highway is already receiving such a large volume of traffic, already exceeding the state's predictions for that roadway for the year 2025, the added pressure of the highway of numerous heavy vehicles such as the applicant proposes is manifestly unsafe.²²

Obviously, however, the Salem Highway was not then exceeding the state's predictions for traffic volume on the highway in 2025, some 20 years in the future.

The participation of Commissioner Passey likewise concerned Judge Moss. Commissioner Passey had performed painting work for Walters²³ and Judge Moss was concerned that Commissioner Passey's participation with the Burns proposal could be compromised because of the competition Burns posed to Walters. Because, however, Judge Moss was aware that Commissioner Passey had resigned from the Commission a few months previous to the meeting in Judge Moss's

²¹ R. Vol. 4 Burns 29 at 28.

²² Id. at 30.

²³ See R. Exhibit Letter from Penny Stanford to Roger Muir, RE: Conflict of Interest, March 23, 2005, at 1 (This letter is part of the material that is the subject of the Motion to Augment the Record filed on November 29, 2007. It is found in the folder entitled "Augmented Record Volume 2" at Tab 3).

chambers, he concluded that a remand to the Commission without Commissioner Passey would resolve any conflict issues that may have been present during the Commission's first hearing.

In chambers, Judge Moss informed the parties that he would remand the case back to the Commission to fix the alleged deficiencies he identified. Judge Moss suggested that Burns could go ahead with oral argument, but he also indicated it would not be time well spent to argue the issue because he had already made his decision. Both parties stipulated to the remand.²⁴

(3) Round Three.

(a) Commission Decision.

On remand, the Commission held a work meeting on April 13, 2006, where it not only again reviewed the traffic and safety issues that were the basis for the remand, but in addition, reviewed all other issues relative to the project outlined in Madison County's Comprehensive Plan. After a discussion of these newly conceived concerns, and without the submission or hearing of any new evidence, the Commission once again denied Burns' application on June 1, 2006.

Incredibly, even after having had the opportunity to correctly review Pline's traffic report, the Commission once again concluded that the North Interchange was unsafe without explaining why the Commission did not believe the information contained in Pline's report, the Keller Report, the traffic counts provided by ITD, and the County's own records. The Commission also introduced a number of new claims relative to this issue, including a claim that the interchange design was unsafe, an issue that had not be raised previously by the Commission and not addressed with an expert report of any kind. Burns' only recourse was to file a second petition for judicial review.

²⁴ R. Vol. 1 at 331-32.

(b) Second Petition for Judicial Review and District Court Decision.

The second petition for judicial review was similar to the first, except for the conflict issue raised in the first petition for judicial review. After a hearing on the second petition for judicial review, the district court issued a written decision on October 17, 2006 upholding the Commission's decision to deny the Burns application. The district court essentially concluded that the lodestar factor of any land use decision in Madison County is not the standards applied in reaching a land use decision, but the location of the property, a characteristic no two properties can share.

Nevertheless, the district court determined that Burns was entitled to a partial award of attorney's fees because "of the Board's obvious misinterpretation of evidence in the record . . . and a possible conflict of interest issue that one of the Board members may have had."²⁵ As a result, the district court awarded fees incurred by Burns up to and including March 13, 2006 because of the "unique procedural facts of this case."²⁶

Shortly after the decision on attorney's fees, the County filed a motion for reconsideration requesting the district court to reverse its decision on attorney's fees. The district court obliged, and reversed its earlier decision awarding Burns its attorney's fees.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Was the Commission's decision on the Burns application results-oriented in light of the Commission's decision on the Walters, which was decided at the same time?
- 2. Should the decision in *Evans v. Board of Commissioners of Cassia County*, 137 Idaho 428, 50 P.3d 443 (2002) be extended to require that oral testimony of lay witnesses in opposition

²⁵ R. Vol. 1 at 505. 26 Id. at 506.

to official and expert reports be supported by other credible evidence before such lay testimony can be adopted?

- 3. Was the Commission's decision arbitrary and capricious and not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole?
- 4. Has a substantial right of Burns been prejudiced?
- 5. Is Burns entitled to an award of attorney's fees on appeal to the district court pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-117, and/or an award of attorney's fees on appeal to this court?

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Judicial Review.

The LLUPA stresses fundamental fairness in land use decision-making:

It is the intent of the legislature that decisions made pursuant to [the LLUPA] should be founded upon sound reason and practical application of recognized principles of law. In reviewing such decisions, the courts of the state are directed to consider the proceedings as a whole and to evaluate the adequacy of procedures and resultant decisions in light of practical considerations with an emphasis on **fundamental fairness** and the essentials of reasoned decision-making.²⁷

The LLUPA "allows an affected person to seek judicial review of an approval or denial of

a land use application, as provided for in the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act ("IDAPA").²⁸

When judicial review of LLUPA decisions is undertaken, "a local agency making a land use

decision, such as the Board of Commissioners, is treated as a government agency under IDAPA."29

Judicial review is a two-step process, wherein "[t]he party appealing the Board of Commissioners' decision must first show the Board of Commissioners erred in a manner specified

²⁷ IDAHO CODE § 67-6535(c) (emphasis added).

²⁸ Crown Point Development, Inc. v. City of Sun Valley, 144 Idaho 72, __, 156 P.3d 573, 575 (2007).

²⁹ Evans v. Teton County, 139 Idaho 71, 74, 73 P.3d 84, 87 (2003).

under I.C. § 67-5279(3), and second, that a substantial right has been prejudiced."³⁰ If both are demonstrated, then this court may "reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced."³¹ When there is a subsequent appeal from a district court's decision to the Idaho Supreme Court where the district court was acting in an appellate capacity under IDAPA, "the Supreme Court reviews the agency record independently of the district court's decision."³²

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