Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-22-2008

Burns Holdings v. Madison County Bd. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 33753

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. General Standard of Review on Appeal from District Courts to Appellate Courts.

The following statutes and court rules govern judicial review in Idaho. In 1975, the Idaho legislature adopted an extensive recodification of the laws in this State relating to planning and zoning, in the Local Planning Act of 1975. This Local Land Use Planning Act of 1975 ("LLUPA") allows for judicial review under the provisions of the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"). The APA applies to judicial review of "an agency," which it defines as a "state board, commission, department or officer authorized by law to make rules or to determine

⁶⁹ Idaho Code §§ 67-6519(4), 67-6521(1)(d).

⁶⁷ As presented in Appellant's Opening Brief, dated December 3, 2007, pp.10-11.

⁶⁸ Gumprecht v. City of Coeur d' Alene, 104 Idaho 615, 617, 661 P.2d 1214, 1216 (Idaho 1983).

contested cases . . . "⁷⁰ In addition to LLUPA and the APA, ⁷¹ judicial review is also governed by Rule 84 of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. ⁷² Amendments to the comprehensive plan done by the Board are "quasi-judicial" actions and are subject to review under LLUPA and the APA. ⁷³

Since LLUPA adopts the judicial review provisions of the APA for review of these quasi-judicial actions, we must turn to the standards set out by the APA for judicial review, found in Idaho Code § 67-5279. Section 67-5279(3) sets forth the standard of review for this Court. It states as follows:

- (3) When the agency was required by the provisions of this chapter or by other provisions of law to issue an order, the court shall affirm the agency action unless the court finds that the agency's findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:
 - (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
 - (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
 - (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
 - (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or
 - (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.

If the agency action is not affirmed, it shall be set aside, in whole or in part, and remanded for other proceedings as necessary.⁷⁴

If this Court finds the underlying decision was in violation of any provision of Idaho Code § 67-5279(3)(a)-(e), Burns must then show that a "substantial right" has been prejudiced per Idaho Code § 67-5279(4).

⁷⁰ Idaho Code § 67-5201(2); Petersen v. Franklin County, 130 Idaho 176, 182, 938 P.2d 1214, 1220 (Idaho 1997).

⁷¹ The APA is codified in Idaho Code §§ 67-5201 to 67-5292, as first enacted in 1965 and subsequently amended in 1992.

⁷² Which rules largely outline timeframes to follow unless otherwise prescribed by statute. *See* I.R.C.P. 84(b)(1).
⁷³ *See generally Cooper v. Ada County Commissioners*, 101 Idaho 407, 410-411, 614 P.2d 947, 950-951 (Idaho 1980).
⁷⁴ Idaho Code § 67-5279(3).

"In a subsequent appeal from a district court's decision in which the district court was acting in its appellate capacity under the Administrative Procedure's Act (APA), the Supreme Court reviews the agency record independently of the district court's decision." As to the facts, this Court reviews them in the same manner as the district court, in that "[t]he standards governing judicial review in a case involving the LLUPA provide that this Court does not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence presented." Indeed, "[i]t is not the role of the reviewing court to weigh the evidence." "[T]his Court defers to the agency's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." A strong presumption of validity favors an agency's actions."

B. The Board's decision on the Burns' application was not results-oriented in light of the Board's decision on the Walters' application, which was decided at the same time.⁸⁰

Burns begins by arguing the Board's decision was "results-oriented" when compared to another Board decision in Walters. Burns aims this at the arbitrary and capricious standard set forth in the APA. This Court has held, "there is a strong presumption favoring the validity of the action of zoning boards and we have upheld the validity of their actions whenever they are free from capriciousness, arbitrariness, or discrimination." This standard applies to the exercise of discretion by the Board and was summed up as follows:

This standard is often phrased in the negative: an agency decision would be arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion if it were not based on those factors

⁷⁶ Fischer v. City of Ketchum, 141 Idaho 349, 352, 109 P.3d 1091, 1094 (Idaho 2005).

⁷⁹ Young Electric Sign Co. v. State ex rel. Winder, 135 Idaho 804, 807, 25 P.3d 117, 120 (Idaho 2001).

81 R. Appellant's Opening Brief, dated December 3, 2007, p.14.

⁷⁵ Eacret v. Bonner County, 139 Idaho 780, 784, 86 P.3d 494, 498 (Idaho 2004).

⁷⁷ Davisco Foods Int'l Inc. v. Gooding County, 141 Idaho 784, 790, 118 P.3d 116, 122 (Idaho 2005).

⁷⁸ Fischer v. City of Ketchum, 141 Idaho 349, 352, 109 P.3d 1091, 1094 (Idaho 2005) (internal citations omitted).

⁸⁰ The Madison County Board of County Commissioners is regarded as the "Board" herein; the Madison County "Planning and Zoning Commission is regarded as the "Commission" herein.

⁸² Id.

⁸³ South Fork Coalition v. Board of Commissioner's of Bonneville County, 117 Idaho 857, 860, 792 P.2d 882, 885 (Idaho 1990).

that the legislature though relevant, ignored an important aspect of the problem, provided an explanation that ran counter to the evidence before the agency, or involved a clear error of judgment. The focus of this inquiry is on the methods by which the agency arrived at its decision: for example, did the agency not only consider all the right questions, did it consider some wrong ones? Does the relationship between the facts found and the conclusion reached reveal gaps in the logic of the reasoning process? Again, the question of judicial review largely devolves into question of whether the agency was reasonable.⁸⁴

In Madison County, a comprehensive plan change and a zone change begins with the Commission. The Commission's duty is to recommend findings to the Board, who then may accept, deny, or hold a public hearing on the proposed amendment to the comprehensive plan or zone change. 85 A comprehensive plan, although not being a legally controlling zoning law, serves as a guide to the Commission and Board charged with making zoning decisions. 86 The Board cannot ignore the Madison County comprehensive plan when adopting or amending zoning ordinances.⁸⁷ Burns spends some time outlining its application and comparing it to the Walters application, heard the same evening by the Board. 88 In Walters' case, their application was made on October 4, 2004. 89 The street address of the property is 4626 South 2860 West and consists of approximately 119 acres. 90 This property was transitional two/agriculture and the northwest corner of the property is zoned industrial and adjoins existing industrial zoning. 91 Access to and from the property would be using the first of three main entrances and exits to Rexburg, known as the south exit located approximately one-half a mile away. 92 Also, this property's north side

⁸⁵ Idaho Code § 67-6511(b).

⁹⁰ Id.

⁸⁴ Michael S. Gillmore & Dale D. Goble, The Idaho Administrative Procedures Act: a Primer for the Practitioner, 30 Idaho L. Rev. 273 365 (1993).

⁸⁶ Bone v. City of Lewiston, 107 Idaho 844, 850, 693 P.2d 1046, 1052 (Idaho 1984).

⁸⁸ R. Appellant's Opening Brief, dated December 3, 2007, pp.14-19. ⁸⁹ R. Vol. 4 at Walters Tab 1.

⁹¹ *Id.*

borders industrial, bark plants and transitional two farming.⁹³ The property across the roadway to the west is zoned commercial.⁹⁴ The Walters' site was to be used for the operation of a gravel pit with no buildings placed on the property.⁹⁵

In comparison, Burns' application was dated November 19, 2004, ⁹⁶ and is located at approximately 3000 North. ⁹⁷ This would place the two properties approximately six miles and three overpasses (as noted below) apart from each other. Burns' property consisted of approximately 50 acres and is not surrounded or bordered by commercial property. ⁹⁸

There are three interchanges that are commonly used in the City of Rexburg: the south interchange, the middle interchange and the north interchange. Of them, the south and middle interchanges have commercial/industrial uses around them; the north does not. The fact is, seeing as the applicants' locations are drastically different, as are the proposed uses, the comprehensive plan treats them differently. From Appellant's Opening Brief, Appendixes A-C show there are no industrial or commercial uses near the north interchange where Burns proposed its site. It was argued correctly by Madison County in front of the district court that this area remains pristine.

The dissimilarities continue between the two applicants, and are best contrasted as set out by the Board in their Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision in each case. For example, with Walters, the Board found: 102

⁹³ *Id.* at pp. 10-11.

⁹⁴ *Id.* at p.13.

⁹⁵ R. Vol. 4 Walters Tab 4.

⁹⁶ R. Vol. 4 Burns Tab 12.

⁹⁷ R. Vol. 4 Burns Tab 14.

⁹⁸ R. Vol. 4 Burns Tab 12.

⁹⁹ R. Transcript from August 11, 2006, hearing before Judge Moss, Case No. CV-2005-255, p.22, LL.11-15.

¹⁰⁰ Id., p.22, LL.15-23.

¹⁰¹ *Id.*, p.24, LL.2-8.

The Walters Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law by the Board could not be found in the record, so a reference is made to the Respondent's Reply Brief instead (R. Vol. 1 at 189).

The proposed amendment seeks the addition of a commercial and light industrial zone near State Highway 191 where it intersects with 4700 South. The property sought to be rezoned is bounded on the south by 4700 South and on the east by State Highway 191, U. S. Highway 20, and by the rail lines of the Eastern Idaho Railroad. Six industrial areas exist within the surrounding area: Mountain West Bark, commonly referred to as "The Bark Plant," is in an industrial zone located to the north of the site; Western Fence, Inc., is a non-conforming use located west of the site; Benchmark Potato is a non-conforming use located west by southwest of the site; Mr. Driveline is a non-conforming use located south of the site; Edstrom Gravel Pit is a non-conforming use located east by northeast of the site. (Findings pp. 13-14).

For Burns, the Board found: 103

The project site currently is planned and zoned as agricultural and historically has been and still is used as agricultural ground. Existing surrounding uses include agricultural and residential uses. There are no other commercial or industrial areas located close to the project site. The proposed commercial area would be located adjacent to U.S. Highway 20, while the proposed industrial area would abut property owned by Alice Hegstead which is currently designated and actually in use as agricultural.

Regarding Walters, no concerns were voiced regarding the location of the Walters access due to traffic volume, sight restrictions or vehicle speed, all of which were major issues in the Burns' hearing. Those testifying at the Walters' hearing were primarily concerned with property values, buffering, potential pollution from the gravel pit, and more gravel trucks traveling county roads. However, six other industrial properties already existed in the neighborhood area, including one already working gravel pit. As stated in the Madison County comprehensive plan, industrial uses are to be grouped. Approval of the Walters project in an area within city limits,

104 Id., item number 3, Public Hearing transcript on Walter's Concrete Comprehensive Plan Change, dated February 28, 2005, at p.17, LL.8 through p.45, LL.4.
 105 R. Vol. entitled "Binder with Augmentations from Order of December 24, 2007", item number 3, Public Hearing

¹⁰³ R. Vol. entitled "Binder with Augmentations from Order of December 24, 2007", item number 6, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, dated June 1, 2008, at pp.5-6.

R. Vol. entitled "Binder with Augmentations from Order of December 24, 2007", item number 3, Public Hearing
 Re: Walter's Concrete dated February 28, 2005, at p.17 through p.49, LL.2.
 R. Vol. 4 Walters Tab 1.

¹⁰⁷ R. Vol. entitled "Binder with Augmentations from Order of December 24, 2007", item number 6, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, dated June 1, 2006, pp.14-16.

bounded by railroad line, where six other industrial sites, including one gravel pit already are in existence, is in full compliance with the comprehensive plan.

In comparison, the Burns property has no commercial property located near it, while the Walters property has a number of both commercial and industrial properties located nearby. Burns also proposed the construction of a cement batch plant and provided a number of plans as to the location and design of the plant and buildings. Whereas Walters only proposed to dig a gravel pit.

Decisions by the Board must be "based on the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan." The Board has to make its decision on a case by case determination. As stated in *Southfork Coalition v. Board of Comm'rs of Bonneville County*, "comprehensive plans do not themselves operate as legally controlling zoning law, but rather serve to guide and advise the various governing bodies responsible for making zoning decisions. . . . [T]he determination of whether a zoning ordinance is 'in accordance with' the comprehensive plan is one of fact. As a question of fact, the determination is for the governing body charged with zoning" 109

In this case, the Board undertook a factual inquiry as to the relationship between what Burns wanted and what the comprehensive plan stated. The Board found the zoning action was not in accordance with the comprehensive plan. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law itself is evidence that the Board balanced competing interests and reviewed the applicable statutes, comprehensive plan, zoning ordinances, and did the appropriate component analysis as required by law. The problem with the residents and the Board was largely Burns' location.

¹⁰⁸ Idaho Code § 67-6535(b).

Southfork Coalition v. Board of Comm'rs of Bonneville County, 117 Idaho 857, 863, 792 P.2d 882, 888 (Idaho 1990) (quotations and citations omitted).

¹¹⁰ See, e.g., Urrutia v. Blaine County, 134 Idaho 353, 2 P.3d 738 (Idaho 2000); R. Binder with Augmentations from Order of December 24, 2007, item 6, pp.19-23.

¹¹¹ R. Binder with Augmentations from Order of December 24, 2007, item number 6, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, dated June 1, 2006, pp.5-24.

R. Transcript from August 11, 2006, hearing before Judge Moss, Case No. CV-2005-255, p.20, LL.4-6; R. Vol. 4

Respondent's Brief – Page 17

In conclusion, the Walters and Burns projects were so vastly different in type, scope, impact, neighboring uses, and distance, that differing decisions on the projects were entirely appropriate. The Board made the correct decision in that no violation of law occurred. As such, the Board's decision should be upheld.

Burns further argues the Board should have articulated why the Burns decision was different than Walters. LLUPA only requires the Board make a written "reasoned statement" as to each application, per Idaho Code § 67-6535(a)-(b). This statute provides:

- (a) The approval or denial of any application provided for in this chapter shall be based upon standards and criteria which shall set forth in the comprehensive plan, zoning ordinance or other appropriate ordinance or regulation of the city or county.
- (b) The approval or denial of any application provided for in this chapter shall be in writing and accompanied by reasoned statement that explains the criteria and standards considered relevant, states the relevant contested facts relied upon, and explains the rationale for the decision based on the applicable provisions of the comprehensive plan, relevant ordinance and statutory provisions, pertinent constitutional principles and factual information contained in the record. 114

Idaho Code § 67-6519(4) also states:

- (4) Whenever a governing board or zoning or planning and zoning commission grants or denies a permit, it shall specify:
 - (a) The ordinance and standards used in evaluating the application;
 - (b) The reasons for approval or denial; and
 - (c) The actions, if any, that the applicant could take to obtain a permit.

Burns Tab 14.

114 Idaho Code § 67-6535(a)-(b).

¹¹³ Appellant's Opening Brief, dated December 3, 2007, p.19.

Here, the Board made a reasoned statement as to Burns' application and did not have to compare it to Walters' or any other applicant's application for that matter. For these reasons, the Board's finding must be further upheld.

C. Evans v. Board of Commissioners of Cassia County, 137 Idaho 428, 50 P.3d 443 (2002) should not be extended to require that oral testimony of lay witnesses be supported by other credible evidence before such lay testimony can be adopted.

In essence, Burns states that if the Board allegedly failed to follow the Evans v. Board of Commissioners of Cassia County case, it would be a procedural error under Idaho Code § 67-5279(3)(c).

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